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BOA MULTI-AGENCY LEASED OFFICE SPACE RFP # 2579 

INQUIRIES AND RESPONSES 

 

1. What agencies are included in the twelve mentioned in RFP Section 3.3.? 

Bureau of Administration 
Bureau of Human Resources 
Bureau of Information and Telecommunications 
Department of Agriculture and Natural Resources 
Department of Corrections 
Department of Education 
Department of Health 
Department of Human Services 
Department of Labor and Regulation 
Department of Public Safety – Driver Licensing 
Department of Revenue, excluding Lottery 
Department of Social Services 

 

2. Of the agencies participating, which would you consider “public facing,” requiring 
direct access to visitors from the general public? 

Department of Health 
Department of Human Services 
Department of Labor and Regulation 
Department of Public Safety – Driver Licensing 
Department of Social Services 

 
3. RFP Section 3.2 notes that offerors have the option to submit one or multiple 
sites to fulfill the building size and parking requirements.  Is it preferred to have one 
building or multiple given the various agencies?  Are there synergies of being under one 
roof or is there value in having separate spaces & locations? 
 

One building will be considered. However, preference will be given to an 
option for one public-facing building and another location for agencies 
which have an administrative focus. 
 

4. Is the State seeking a “master developer/landlord” or do you envision a potential 
scenario where multiple buildings (with different owners) are selected and state 
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agencies are grouped together based upon location, public access requirements, and 
services provided?  

The preference would be one developer/landlord. Based on proposals and 
locations, different owners and locations will be considered. 
 

5. Can you please clarify that in RFP Section 3.3.b., the required building size of 
approximately 232,000 SF is in gross square feet, rentable square feet, or usable square 
feet? 
 

Our estimates are that we will need approximately 232,000 usable square 
feet. 
 

6. How much space would each agency need?  
 

The total required square footage is 232,000.  Specific allocation among the 
agencies is to be determined.  Approximately 2/3 of the space will be for 
public facing purposes, with the remainder to be allocated to administrative 
agencies.  
 

7. What services/agencies (and square footages) can be split if we were to propose 
two buildings in lieu of one large building to house all agencies?  
 

Please refer to Questions 1, 2, and 6. 
 

8. Which agencies should be in the City core (downtown)? Which ones could be in 
suburban development? 
 

This is to be determined based on evaluation of proposals received. 
 

9. Are there special circumstances any agency may require addressed (i.e. first floor 
access, special security considerations, etc.)?  
 

Yes, some of the public-facing agencies have customers with disability and 
high traffic, and will need easy access, preferably on the first floor. 
 

10. Does the State have a target budget/lease rate range in mind? 
 

No 
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11. In previous requests for proposal, BOA provided preliminary plans / program of 
design documents showing the desired conceptual layout by agency. Does BOA intend 
to provide this information during the RFP so the interior layout can be priced?   
 

No.  The final space plan, floor plan, and design will be determined with 
agency input after selection with the project’s architect and engineer. 

 
11a. If not, will BOA accept a Tenant Improvement Allowance as a placeholder 
until the final design is determined and the rent will be adjusted accordingly?  
Yes 
 

12. Are there any sustainability requirements? 
 

All construction must be completed in compliance with all applicable 
building codes.  While this will be a privately-owned project, please note 
SDCL 5-18A-38 and SDAR 10:09 contain sustainability factors that the State 
may consider. 
 

13. Precast is not listed for exterior façade, would cast-in brick precast panels be 
acceptable for part of the exterior façade?   
 

Yes, provided it complies with all applicable building codes and other 
requirements and is aesthetically acceptable in the area. 
 

14. Emergency backup power – is there a minimum wattage requirement? 
 

Backup power must be sufficient to provide power to ensure continuous 
operation of emergency functions needed to sustain life and essential 
services.  
 

15. The RFP notes that the State will provide all furnishings.  Is there any specialized 
furnishings/equipment we would need to design around or is it typical office furniture, 
cubicles, etc.?   
 

Typical office furnishings and equipment that meet our standards should be 
expected. 
 

16. Which agencies will require secured parking? 
 

The secured parking will be for state vehicles and limited other vehicles. 
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17. Secured parking – can you define what secured parking means?  Is it outdoor 
surface parking with a secure fence surrounding it? Underground parking? Covered 
parking? etc.  
 

Fenced lit outdoor area with access controlled by keycard. 
 

18. Within the approximately 190,000 SF of parking, does any of the agencies plan to 
house irregularly sized vehicles that would require irregular sized spaces or any other 
specialized uses within the parking area (e.g., outside storage)? 
 

No 
 

19. Is the lease agreement for the recently-completed similar project in Rapid City a 
public document?  Can you share that lease agreement (even if some parts need to be 
redacted)?  
 

That lease is a public document.  A copy is attached to this document. 
 

20. Please confirm that although separate leases will be signed with each agency, 
rent will be paid on the entire building at rent commencement.  
 

The preference would be for one lease for each building, with the rent 
commencement date depending upon substantial completion and 
occupancy. 
 

21. The lease attached to the RFP contains a cancellation clause that allows the 
tenant to cancel the lease upon 90 days notice. Is this clause negotiable?  
 

All lease terms will be negotiable upon selection. 
 

22. What is the anticipated process to select developer(s) for the project? Will there 
be finalists and interviews?  
 
 Please see RFP Section 6.1 Evaluation Criteria.  Finalists will be interviewed. 
 
23. Are the construction documents for the Rapid City One Stop project public 
documents?  Can you share those?  
 
 No. 



Page | 5  
 

24. How will the state manage the preconstruction and construction on their end, will 
each agency have their own representative or point of contact for the respective 
processes?  
 

A building committee made up of representatives from each tenant agency 
and led by BOA will work directly with the developer on all areas. 
 

25. Will the agencies’ representative be able to meet in Sioux Falls at the office of the 
designer/owner for design meetings?  
 
 Yes 
 
26. How firm is the June 1, 2024 completion deadline?  
 
 It is negotiable. 



















16.7) , Counterparts. This Lease may be exea.ited i"I two or more counterparts, each of 
which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same 
instrument 

16.8) , Modifications. Any modification of this Lease, or additional obligation assumed 
by either party in connection with this Lease shall be binding only If evidenced in writing and 
signed by each of the parties. The parties warrant that they have the fun right and authority to 
enter into this Lease and hereto have executed this Lease as of the day and year first above 
written. 

TENANT: STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 
Department of Socicf,Ji ervlces /') 
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